#### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-21-2017

# State v. Racehorse Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45274

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

Mr. Racehorse pled guilty to possessing methamphetamine, but reserved the right to challenge the district court's denial of his motion to suppress. He contends that the district court erred in denying that motion on two grounds: First, mindful that Mr. Racehorse presented no direct evidence that Mr. Steimlosk acted as a government agent when he ordered Mr. Racehorse to empty his pockets, he asserts that the district court erred by concluding as much. Second, mindful that substantial evidence supports the court's finding that the cigarette pack was in Mr. Racehorse's coat pocket when Mr. Racehorse gave Officer Miller consent to search the coat, he contends that the cigarette pack was in fact on the table and thus the search exceeded the scope of Mr. Racehorse's consent. This Court should vacate Mr. Racehorse's judgment of conviction, reverse the order denying the motion to suppress, and remand this case for further proceedings.

#### Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

The State charged Mr. Racehorse with possession of methamphetamine with the intent to deliver, and as a persistent violator, after Mr. Racehorse was caught shoplifting at Albertson's and had methamphetamine on him. (R., pp.8–9, 71–72.) Mr. Racehorse filed a motion to suppress any and all statements and evidence against him under the U.S. and Idaho Constitutions (R., pp.88–89), and the court set the matter for a hearing. Four witnesses testified at the hearing on the motion to suppress: two Albertson's employees and two officers.

Mr. Steimlosk, a loss prevention officer, testified that he saw Mr. Racehorse pay for only two of four items he had with him as he went through the self-checkout line. (Tr., p.13, L.9–p.15, L.1.) Mr. Steimlosk stopped Mr. Racehorse as he was leaving the store and took him to an

office. (Tr., p.15, L.8–p.18, L.18.) The front end manager, Ms. Arzola, joined them as a witness. (Tr., p.15, L.11–p.16, L.20, p.85, L.2–p.86, L.7.)

Once inside the office, Mr. Steimlosk asked Mr. Racehorse to place his merchandise on the table, empty his pockets onto the table, show him his waistline and sock line, and take off his coat. (Tr., p.19, L.15–21.) Mr. Steimlosk testified that he did that to ensure that he recovered all of the stolen merchandise and to ensure that Mr. Racehorse did not have any weapons on him. (Tr., p.19, L.22–p.20, L.6.) According to Mr. Steimlosk, Mr. Racehorse took several things out of his pockets: "a large quantity of cash, there was a needle, there was—there was a pack of cigarettes that was in the jacket, and I did not—I just set the jacket—after confirming that that was all that was in the jacket, I just set that aside." (Tr., p.20, Ls.15–21.) On cross examination, Mr. Steimlosk said that neither he nor Mr. Racehorse removed the pack of cigarettes from the jacket. (Tr., p.34, Ls.12–20, p.37, L.14–p.44, L.11.) Ms. Arzola testified that she was sitting behind Mr. Racehorse, so she could not see where the cigarette pack came from and could not remember who had pulled it out. (Tr., p.88, Ls.3–20.) But after defense counsel pressed her, she testified that she thought either Mr. Steimlosk or Mr. Racehorse had taken the cigarette pack out of the jacket and placed it on the counter before the police arrived. (Tr., p.88, L.21–p.90, L.12.)

After talking to Mr. Racehorse about shoplifting, Mr. Steimlosk called for a police officer. (Tr., p.21, L.25–p.22, L.24.) He testified that he did not tell Mr. Racehorse that he could put his belongings back in his pockets, but denied that he neglected to do so because he wanted the police to see the belongings when they got there. (Tr., p.36, L.11–p.37, L.10.) Officer Miller got to Albertson's first, and Officer Cartwright arrived shortly after. (Tr., p.94, L.19–p.95, L.2.)

When Officer Miller got to Albertson's, he read Mr. Racehorse his Miranda rights and Mr. Racehorse agreed to talk. (Tr., p.57, L.3–p.60, L.7.) After talking to Mr. Racehorse about

the items he hadn't paid for and the syringe on the table, Officer Miller asked if Mr. Racehorse had any illegal drugs. (Tr., p.60, L.12–p.64, L.21.) Mr. Racehorse said he did not. (Tr., p.64, Ls.17–25.) When Officer Miller asked if there was anything illegal in his coat, Officer Miller testified that Mr. Racehorse said, "No. You can check." (Tr., p.65, L.23–p.66, L.18.) Officer Miller testified that he looked in the coat pockets, found a pack of cigarettes, opened it, and found what he believed to be methamphetamine inside. (Tr., p.66, L.22–p.67, L.15.) Mr. Steimlosk confirmed that he saw one of the officers take the pack of cigarettes out of Mr. Racehorse's coat. (Tr., p.46, L.18–p.47, L.1.) Ms. Arzola testified that she remembered Officer Miller looking in the cigarette pack after getting permission to search the jacket and Mr. Racehorse. (Tr., p.91, Ls.3–23.) And Officer Cartwright testified that Officer Miller took at least one item out of Mr. Racehorse's coat, but he did not mention the cigarette pack specifically. (Tr., p.98, L.15–p.99, L.7.)

At that point, Officer Miller arrested Mr. Racehorse, searched him incident to arrest, and found another bag of what he believed to be methamphetamine in the pocket of Mr. Racehorse's pants. (Tr., p.67, L.14–p.68, L.22.)

After the hearing, both parties filed a brief on the motion to suppress. Mr. Racehorse first argued that Officer Miller unlawfully searched the cigarette pack. (R., pp.102–03.) He asserted that the cigarette pack was on the table, not in Mr. Racehorse's coat, when the officers arrived, and thus Mr. Racehorse's consent to search his coat did not give Officer Miller permission to search the cigarette pack. (R., pp.101–03.) Second, Mr. Racehorse argued that Mr. Steimlosk acted as a government agent when he detained Mr. Racehorse and ordered him to empty his pockets. (R., p.103.) In response, the State first asserted that the facts showed Mr. Steimlosk asked Mr. Racehorse to empty his pockets as a matter of policy for safety purposes, and so he

was not acting as a government agent. (R., pp.108–11.) Second, it argued that Mr. Racehorse voluntarily consented to the search of his coat, which contained the cigarette pack, and thus the search was lawful. (R., pp.111–16.)

The court denied Mr. Racehorse's motion. Regarding Mr. Steimlosk's request that Mr. Racehorse empty his pockets, the court concluded that Mr. Steimlosk did not act as an agent of the government. (R., pp.120-21.) The court held as much because Mr. Steimlosk testified that he asks every shoplifting suspect to empty his or her pockets for safety reasons and does not do so to aid law enforcement, and because the officers did not know about or consent to that request. (R., p.120.) The court next held that Mr. Racehorse had voluntarily consented to search the coat and cigarette pack. (R., pp.121–22.) That conclusion rested on the court's finding that the cigarette pack was in Mr. Racehorse's coat, not on the counter, when Officer Miller arrived and asked to search the coat. (R., p.118 ("Racehorse removed from his pockets a large quantity of cash and a needle (syringe). Steimlosk also observed a pack of cigarettes in Racehorse's jacket.") (internal citations omitted), p.119 ("Officer Miller asked if he could search the Defendant's jacket, and the Defendant gave him permission to search. In searching the Defendant's jacket, Officer Miller removed a cigarette package and also found a plastic baggie containing a white crystalline substance that Officer Miller believed was Methamphetamine.") (internal citations omitted).)

Mr. Racehorse later reached a conditional, binding plea agreement with the State in which the State dismissed the possession with intent to deliver charge and persistent violator enhancement in exchange for Mr. Racehorse's guilty plea to simple possession of

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the same paragraph, the State also stated that the cigarette pack was on the table when Officer Miller arrived. (R., p.114.)

methamphetamine. (R., pp.133–34, 138–40.) The parties agreed that Mr. Racehorse's sentence, which they left to the court's discretion, would run concurrently to his other sentence. (R., pp.134, 140.) Mr. Racehorse reserved his right to challenge the denial of his motion to suppress on appeal. (R., pp.134, 141.) The court accepted Mr. Racehorse's plea (Tr., p.108, L.5–p.120, L.13), and later sentenced him to a fixed term of ten months, with an indeterminate term of three years (Tr., p.141, Ls.19–21; R., pp.163–65). Mr. Racehorse timely appealed. (R., pp.167–69.)

# <u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district court err by denying Mr. Racehorse's motion to suppress?

#### ARGUMENT

#### The District Court Erred By Denying Mr. Racehorse's Motion To Suppress

Mr. Racehorse contends that the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress on two grounds: First, the court incorrectly concluded that Mr. Steimlosk did not act as a government agent when he ordered Mr. Racehorse to empty his pockets. Second, the court erroneously found that the cigarette pack was in Mr. Racehorse's coat pocket when Mr. Racehorse told Officer Miller that he could check to see if anything illegal was in the coat, and thus incorrectly held that the search did not exceed the scope of Mr. Racehorse's consent.

#### A. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

When reviewing a motion to suppress, this Court defers to the district court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous, but exercises free review over questions of statutory construction and the district court's application of constitutional principles in light of the facts found. *State v. Donato*, 135 Idaho 469, 470 (2001). Factual findings are clearly erroneous if they are not supported by substantial evidence in the record. *State v. Linenberger*, 151 Idaho 680, 686 (Ct. App. 2011).

# B. Mr. Steimlosk Acted As A Government Agent When He Had Mr. Racehorse Empty His Pockets

The U.S. and Idaho Constitutions prohibit unreasonable governmental searches and seizures. U.S. CONST. amend. IV; IDAHO CONST. art. I, § 17. "[E]vidence obtained through a private search, even though wrongfully conducted, is not excludable under the fourth amendment unless government officials instigated the search or otherwise participated in a wrongful search." *State v. Pontier*, 103 Idaho 91, 94 (1982) (citing *Burdeau v. McDowell*, 256 U.S. 465 (1921); *Walter v. United States*, 447 U.S. 649 (1980)). "The government must be involved either

directly as a participant or indirectly as an encourager of the private citizen's actions in order to bring those actions within the purview of the fourth amendment." *State v. Kopsa*, 126 Idaho 512, 517 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing *State v. Crawford*, 110 Idaho 577, 579 (Ct. App. 1986)). To determine whether a private citizen acted as a government agent, courts consider: "(1) government knowledge and acquiescence, and (2) the private party's intent in making the search." *Id.* The defendant has the burden of proving that a private citizen acted as a government agent when conducting the search. *Id.* 

Mr. Racehorse acknowledges that he presented no evidence that the officers knew of or acquiesced in Mr. Steimlosk's request that Mr. Racehorse empty his pockets, but he asserts that Mr. Steimlosk intended to aid the government when making that request. *See Kopsa*, 126 Idaho at 517. In particular, Mr. Steimlosk testified that he did not tell Mr. Racehorse that he could put his belongings back in his pockets before the police arrived. (Tr., p.36, L.11–p.37, L.10.) Mindful that Mr. Steimlosk denied that he neglected to do so because he wanted the police to see the belongings when they got there and thus the court's finding is supported by substantial evidence, Mr. Racehorse asserts that the court's finding was clearly erroneous. *See id.*; *Linenberger*, 151 Idaho at 686. Therefore, Mr. Steimlosk acted as a government agent when he ordered Mr. Racehorse to empty his pockets and the court should have suppressed any evidence seized as a result.

# C. Officer Miller Exceeded The Scope Of Mr. Racehorse's Consent When He Searched The Cigarette Pack

The U.S. and Idaho Constitutions prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. CONST. amend. IV; IDAHO CONST. art. I, § 17. Warrantless searches are presumptively unreasonable, unless the State proves that the search falls within a well-recognized exception to

the warrant requirement. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973); State v. Weaver, 127 Idaho 288, 290 (1995). A search conducted with consent is one exception to the warrant requirement. Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 219; State v. Turek, 150 Idaho 745, 747 (Ct. App. 2011). "[W]hen the basis for a search is consent, the government must conform to the limitations placed upon the right granted to search." State v. Thorpe, 141 Idaho 151, 154 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing United States v. Ward, 576 F.2d 243, 244 (9th Cir. 1978); Mason v. Pulliam, 557 F.2d 426, 429 (5th Cir. 1977)). The State must prove both that the defendant gave consent to search and that he gave that consent voluntarily. Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 222; State v. Garcia, 143 Idaho 774, 778 (Ct. App. 2006). If it fails to meet that burden, the Court must exclude evidence discovered as a result of the violation as the "fruit of the poisonous tree." Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 488 (1963); see also State v. Koivu, 152 Idaho 511, 519 (2012).

The court erred by concluding that Mr. Racehorse consented to the search of the cigarette pack. The court's holding turned on its finding that the cigarette pack was in Mr. Racehorse's coat when he gave Officer Miller consent to search his coat. (R., pp.118–19, 121–22.) Mindful that substantial evidence supports that finding, *see Linenberger*, 151 Idaho at 686, Mr. Racehorse contends that the finding was clearly erroneous. Although Officer Miller testified that the cigarette pack was in the coat (Tr., p.66, L.22–p.67, L.15), and Mr. Steimlosk confirmed as much on cross examination (Tr., p.34, Ls.12–20, p.37, L.14–p.44, L.11), Mr. Steimlosk's testimony on direct examination seemed to indicate otherwise. He testified that Mr. Racehorse took several things out of his pockets before the officers arrived: "a large quantity of cash, there was a needle, there was—there was a pack of cigarettes that was in the jacket, and I did not—I just set the jacket—after confirming that that was all that was in the jacket, I just set that aside." (Tr., p.20, Ls.15–21.) And Ms. Azrola testified that, although she couldn't see well, she thought

either Mr. Steimlosk or Mr. Racehorse had taken the cigarette pack out of the coat and placed it

on the counter before the police arrived. (Tr., p.88, L.3-p.90, L.12.) Mr. Racehorse therefore

contends that the cigarette pack was on the table when he consented to the search of his coat, and

so Officer Miller exceeded the scope of his consent. The court should have suppressed the

evidence found in the cigarette pack, as well as any fruits of that search.

**CONCLUSION** 

Mr. Racehorse respectfully requests that this Court vacate his judgment of conviction,

reverse the order denying the motion to suppress, and remand this case for further proceedings.