Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-15-2018

State v. Racehorse Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45274

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

ARGUMENT

The District Court Did Not Err When It Denied Racehorse's Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

Mr. Steimlosk asked Racehorse to empty his pockets and place the items from his pockets on the table. (R., p. 118.) No police officers were present, nor did law enforcement know or consent to Mr. Steimlosk's request. (R., pp. 119-120.) The district court found that this search did not implicate the Fourth Amendment because Mr. Steimlosk was a private citizen and not a government official. (See *id.*) On appeal, Racehorse argues that the district court erred when it found Mr. Steimlosk was not acting as a government official. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 7-8.) Racehorse is mindful that there was "substantial evidence" to support the district court's finding, but nonetheless argues the district court clearly erred. (See *id.*) Racehorse's argument is without support in the record and in law.

The district court also found that Racehorse freely and voluntarily gave consent to Officer Miller to search his jacket (sometimes referred to as a coat) in which Officer Miller found the cigarette pack that contained the first baggie of methamphetamine. (R., pp. 121-122.) On appeal, Racehorse challenges the district court's finding that the cigarette pack was in Racehorse's jacket when Racehorse gave Officer Miller consent to search it. And, pointing to evidence that he contends shows the cigarette pack was actually on the table, Racehorse argues Officer Miller's search of the cigarette pack

exceed the scope of his consent.³ (See Appellant’s brief, pp. 8-10.) Again Racehorse is “mindful” that there is substantial evidence that the cigarette pack was in Racehorse’s jacket, but nonetheless argues that the district court clearly erred. (See *id.*) Racehorse’s argument is without support in the record and in law.

B. Standard Of Review

In reviewing an order denying a motion to suppress evidence, the appellate court applies a bifurcated standard of review. State v. Anderson, 154 Idaho 703, 302 P.3d 328 (2012) (citing State v. Purdum, 147 Idaho 206, 207, 207 P.3d 182, 183 (2009)). The appellate court will accept the trial court’s findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous but will freely review the trial court’s application of constitutional principles to the facts found. Id.

C. Racehorse Has Failed To Show Clear Error In The District Court’s Findings That Mr. Steimlosk Was Acting As A Private Individual And That Racehorse’s Cigarette Pack Was In His Jacket When Officer Miller Asked To Search Racehorse’s Jacket

The district court found that the Fourth Amendment was not implicated when Mr. Steimlosk asked Racehorse to empty his pockets because Mr. Steimlosk was a private individual who was not conducting a search on the behalf of law enforcement. (R., pp.

³ Racehorse raised this issue below. (See R., pp. 101-103.) Although the district court did not explicitly find Officer Miller’s search was within the scope of Racehorse’s consent, it implicitly did so when it concluded Officer Miller discovered the cigarette pack while searching Racehorse’s jacket pursuant to Racehorse’s voluntary consent.

119-11.) The district court also found there was substantial and competent evidence that Racehorse freely and voluntarily gave his consent to Officer Miller to search his jacket, in which the cigarette pack and first baggie of methamphetamine were found. (R., pp. 121-122.) Racehorse has failed to show the district court clearly erred in either determination.

1. Mr. Steimlosk Was Acting As A Private Individual And Thus His Request That Racehorse Empty His Pockets Does Not Implicate The Fourth Amendment

Mr. Steimlosk's request that Racehorse empty his pockets and place items on the table did not even implicate the Fourth Amendment because Mr. Steimlosk was a private citizen and not a government official. "It is firmly established that evidence obtained through a private search, even though wrongfully conducted, is not excludable under the fourth amendment unless government officials instigated the search or otherwise participated in a wrongful search." State v. Kopsa, 126 Idaho 512, 517, 887 P.2d 57, 62 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing State v. Pontier, 103 Idaho 91, 94, 645 P.2d 325, 328 (1982); State v. Johnson, 110 Idaho 516, 519, 716 P.2d 1288, 1291 (1986); State v. Castillo, 108 Idaho 205, 207, 697 P.2d 1219, 1221 (Ct.App.1985)). "However, where a private party acts as an agent of the State in effecting a search, Fourth Amendment protections are implicated." State v. Breese, 160 Idaho 841, 843, 379 P.3d 1111, 1113 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing United States v. Walther, 652 F.2d 788, 791 (9th Cir.1981); Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62). "The burden of proving governmental involvement in a search conducted by a private citizen rests on the party objecting to the evidence." Id. (citing Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62). There is a "gray area" between the extremes of "overt governmental participation in a search and the complete absence of such

participation.” Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62 (citing State v. Crawford, 110 Idaho 577, 579, 716 P.2d 1349, 1351 (Ct. App. 1986); United States v. Walther, 652 F.2d 788, 791 (9th Cir.1981)). “Gray area” cases should be analyzed on a case-by-case basis, referring to certain general principles. Breese, 160 Idaho at 843, 379 P.3d at 1113 (citing Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62)). “One such principle is that *de minimis* or incidental contacts between a citizen and law enforcement prior to or during the course of a search do not subject the search to Fourth Amendment scrutiny.” Id. at 843-844, 379 P.3d at 1113-1114 (citing Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62). “In order to bring a private citizen’s actions within the purview of the Fourth Amendment, the government must be involved either directly as a participant or indirectly as an encourager.” Id. at 844, 379 P.3d at 1114 (citations omitted). “Thus, when analyzing whether the person conducting the search is acting as an instrument or agent of the government, we consider two critical factors—whether the government knew of and acquiesced in the intrusive conduct and whether the party performing the search intended to assist law enforcement efforts or further his or her own ends.” Id. (citing Walther, 652 F.2d at 791; Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62).

The district court found that law enforcement did not even know about Mr. Steimlosk’s search. (R., pp. 120-121.) The district court also found that Mr. Steimlosk conducted the search for his own ends and the search was not intended to assist law enforcement. (Id.)

Therefore, this Court concludes that law enforcement did not know or consent to Steimlosk’s requirement that Racehorse empty his pockets. Furthermore, Steimlosk’s requirement that all persons detained for shoplifting empty their pockets is not done to assist law enforcement, but is to protect the safety of

Steimlosk and other staff at the store. As such, the search conducted by Steimlosk prior to law enforcement arriving on scene was initiated by Steimlosk for his own purposes and not for the benefit of law enforcement, and the protections afforded under the Fourth Amendment are therefore not implicated.

(R., pp. 120-121.)

On appeal, “Racehorse acknowledges that he presented no evidence that the officer knew of or acquiesced in Mr. Steimlosk’s request that Mr. Racehorse empty his pockets, but he asserts that Mr. Steimlosk intended to aid the government when making that request.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 8 (citing Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62).) Racehorse argues that, because Mr. Steimlosk did not tell Racehorse he could put his items back into his pocket, Mr. Steimlosk was attempting to leave the items on the table, which would aid law enforcement. (See id.) Racehorse argues the district court’s factual findings were clearly erroneous. (See id.) Racehorse’s argument is unsupported by the record and the law.

As acknowledged by Racehorse, the district court’s factual finding is supported by substantial evidence. (Appellant’s brief, p. 8.) Mr. Steimlosk’s request that Racehorse empty his pockets was not intended to aid the police. Mr. Steimlosk testified that he asked Racehorse to empty his pockets, for “the safety of [himself] and other associates and customers” and to recover any stolen merchandise. (2/23/17 Tr., p. 19, L. 15 – p. 21, L. 11.)

Q. So when you got to the office area that were you headed to, what did you do?

A. I asked Mr. Racehorse to place the purchased items that were in bags down on the counter. I asked him to empty his pockets, pulled them inside out, show me his waistline, show me his sockline, and take – remove his jacket.

Q. And why do you have – I guess, why did you ask Mr. Racehorse to do those various things and why did you check those portions of his person?

A. For the safety of myself and other associates and customers, to remove all merchandise and recover all merchandise that was not paid for and to validate that there is no weapons on the subject, for my safety and the safety of our employees and customers.

(2/23/17 Tr., p. 19, L. 15 – p. 20, L. 6.)

Mr. Steimlosk not telling Racehorse to put the items back into his pockets also was not intended to aid police. Mr. Steimlosk testified that telling a shoplifter to put items back into his pockets was something he simply did not do. (See (2/23/17 Tr., p. 36, Ls. 6-24.)

Q. Okay. And after all of those items were removed from his person, did he place them on the table or the counter or whatever it was?

A. Yes.

Q. And after you determined that there was no stolen items on his person, and no weapons on his person, did you instruct him that he could put those items back in his pockets?

A. No, I did not.

Q. Why is that?

A. Um, it's not something that I do with any subject ever.

Q. Well, I know you say it's not something you do. Did you want the police to observe that when they showed up?

A. Not necessarily, no. It's just my standard procedure that –

(Id.) Thus, there is substantial and competent evidence to support the district court's finding that Mr. Steimlosk's search was not done with the purpose of assisting law enforcement. Racehorse has failed to show the finding is clearly erroneous.

However, even if the district court did clearly err when it determined that Mr. Steimlosk did not intend to assist law enforcement, it does not matter. Whether a private individual intended to assist law enforcement only becomes a factor in the “gray area” cases. See Breese, 160 Idaho at 843, 379 P.3d at 1113; Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62. “Gray area” cases only arise when governmental participation is between the extremes of “overt governmental participation in a search and the complete absence of such participation.” Kopsa, 126 Idaho at 517, 887 P.2d at 62 (citations omitted). This is not a “gray area” case. Here, there was a complete absence of governmental participation. No officer was present for the initial search. Law enforcement did not even know about Mr. Steimlosk’s search, let alone consent to such a search. (See R., pp. 120-121.) There is a complete absence of governmental participation and thus the “gray area” analysis is irrelevant.

In addition, Racehorse has failed to show he is entitled to suppression of the methamphetamine. When a defendant moves to suppress evidence the defendant bears the threshold burden of showing a factual nexus between the illegality and the state’s acquisition of the evidence. See State v. Kapelle, 158 Idaho 121, 127, 344 P.3d 901, 907 (Ct. App. 2014); State v. Dahl, 162 Idaho 541, 400 P.3d 629, 634 (Ct. App. 2017). The first baggie of methamphetamine was discovered after Racehorse consented to Officer Miller’s search of his jacket. (See 2/23/17 Tr., p. 65, L. 21– p. 67, L. 13.) The second baggie was found after Officer Miller placed Racehorse under arrest and searched him. (2/23/17 Tr., p. 67, L. 14 – p. 68, L. 22.) Racehorse asks to suppress “any evidence

seized as a result” of Mr. Steimlosk’s search, but has failed to show that the evidence would not have been discovered but for allegedly unconstitutional conduct.

2. There Is Substantial And Competent Evidence That The Cigarette Pack Was In Racehorse’s Jacket When Officer Miller Asked For, And Received, Consent To Search The Jacket

The district court found that Racehorse gave voluntary consent to search his jacket. (R., pp. 121-122.)

The facts in this case show that after arriving at the Albertson’s store, Officer Miller informed the Defendant of his *Miranda* rights, and the Defendant freely agreed to talk. Officer Miller and Racehorse then discussed why Racehorse was in possession of a syringe. Based upon the answers provided by Racehorse, Officer Miller’s training and experience led him to believe that individuals possessing syringes may also possess illegal controlled substances, prompting Officer Miller to ask Racehorse if he could search his jacket. Racehorse agreed to Officer Miller’s request and gave permission to search. (*See* Suppression Hrg. At 57:15-60:21.) Based upon the testimony of Officer Miller regarding the events of the day in question and a review of the totality of the circumstances, this Court finds that there is substantial and competent evidence sufficient to demonstrate that Racehorse freely and voluntarily gave his consent to that search of his jacket. There is no evidence of coercion.

(R., p. 122.)

A warrantless search conducted pursuant to valid consent does not violate the Fourth Amendment. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973) (citations omitted); State v. Varie, 135 Idaho 848, 852, 26 P.3d 31, 35 (2001). Consent is valid if it is free and voluntary. Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 225-26 (citations omitted). The voluntariness of an individual’s consent is a question of fact to be determined based upon the totality of the circumstances. Varie, 135 Idaho at 852, 26 P.3d at 35 (citing Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 248-49). In order to be valid, consent cannot be the result of duress or coercion, either direct or implied. Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 248.

Whether a consent to a search was voluntary is a question of fact, the determination of which is reviewed on appeal for clear error. State v. Reynolds, 146 Idaho 466, 472, 197 P.3d 327, 333 (Ct. App. 2008); State v. Stewart, 145 Idaho 641, 648, 181 P.3d 1249, 1256 (Ct. App. 2008). “Findings will not be deemed clearly erroneous if they are supported by substantial evidence in the record.” Stewart, 145 Idaho at 648, 181 P.3d at 1256 (quoting State v. Jaborra, 143 Idaho 94, 98, 137 P.3d 481, 485 (Ct. App. 2006)).

“The standard for measuring the scope of a suspect’s consent under the Fourth Amendment is that of ‘objective’ reasonableness-what would the typical reasonable person have understood by the exchange between the officer and the suspect?” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 251 (1991) (citing Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 183-189 (1990); Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 501-502 (1983) (opinion of WHITE, J.); *id.*, at 514, (BLACKMUN, J., dissenting)). The United State Supreme Court explained, “The scope of a search is generally defined by its expressed object.” Id. (citing United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798 (1982)). “A reasonable person may be expected to know that narcotics are generally carried in some form of a container.” Id.

On appeal, Racehorse does not challenge the finding that Officer Miller had valid consent to search Racehorse’s jacket. (See Appellant’s brief, pp. 8-10.) Instead Racehorse argues that the district court’s factual finding that the cigarette pack was in Racehorse’s jacket was clearly erroneous. (See id.) Racehorse is “mindful” that there is substantial evidence supporting the district court’s finding, but nonetheless argues the

finding is clearly erroneous. (See id.) The district court did not clearly err; there was substantial competent evidence that the cigarette pack was in Racehorse's jacket.

Mr. Steimlosk testified that he saw the cigarette pack in Racehorse's jacket, but just set it aside.

Q. And did you observe anything that [Racehorse] removed from his person when you asked him to empty his pockets? Checked his waistband? His socks?

A. Yes. Mr. Racehorse removed several items. There was a large quantity of cash, there was a needle, there was – there was a pack of cigarettes that was in the jacket, and I did not – I just set the jacket – after confirming that that was all that was in the jacket, I just set that aside.

(2/23/17 Tr., p. 20, Ls. 11-21.) Mr. Steimlosk further testified that the cigarette pack was still in Racehorse's jacket when Racehorse took off the jacket:

Q. Ok. And you said something about a pack of cigarettes in the coat?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he remove those as well?

A. No. He removed the jacket.

Q. And you're saying the cigarettes were still in the jacket?

A. The cigarettes were still in the jacket, yes.

(2/23/17 Tr., p. 34, Ls. 12-20.) He also testified the cigarettes were still in the jacket when the police arrived:

Q. And it's your testimony that the cigarettes were not removed from the coat pocket before the police arrived?

A. I felt the coat pockets and I saw a pack of cigarettes in there, but I didn't remove the cigarettes.

(2/23/17 Tr., p. 37, Ls. 14-19.) Mr. Steimlosk repeatedly testified that the cigarette pack remained in Racehorse's jacket pocket. (2/23/17 Tr., p. 38, L. 21 – p. 39, L. 14, p. 42, Ls. 13-18, p. 43, L. 4 – p. 44, L. 2.)

Officer Miller testified that he spoke to Racehorse about the syringe to determine whether it was drug paraphernalia. (2/23/17 Tr., p. 61, L. 21 – p. 64, L. 25.) Officer Miller asked Racehorse if he had anything illegal in his coat. (2/23/17 Tr., p. 65, L. 21 – p. 66, L. 21.) Racehorse said “No. You can check.” (Id.) Officer Miller then clarified that it was okay that he check the coat. (Id.) Racehorse said “Yes.” (Id.)

Q. And upon him telling you that, how did you proceed?

A. I searched the pockets of the black Carhartt jacket that was on the counter.

Q. And during that search, what did you discover, if anything?

A. In his right front pocket of the coat there was a pack of cigarettes.

Q. And what did you do with that pack of cigarettes?

A. I opened it to look inside.

Q. And what did you observe?

A. A small plastic bag containing a white crystalline substance.

(2/23/17 Tr. p. 66, L. 22 – p. 67, L. 10; see also p. 78, L. 25 – p. 79, L. 3.) The only potentially contrary evidence came from Ms. Arzola, who testified that she was not sure when the cigarettes were removed from Racehorse's jacket. (2/23/17 Tr., p. 87, L. 16 – p. 91, L. 23.) But she thought the cigarettes may have been out of the pocket before the police arrived. (Id.) However, she could not remember if it was Mr. Steimlosk or the police officer who removed the cigarettes from Racehorse's jacket. (2/23/17 Tr., p. 88,

Ls. 8-14.) Regardless, even if there is conflicting testimony (which there really is not here), the resolution of those conflicts were the province of the district court. Here the district court found that the cigarette pack was in Racehorse's jacket and Racehorse gave valid consent to Officer Miller to search his jacket. Racehorse has failed to show the court's finding was clearly erroneous and, thus, has failed to show any basis for suppression.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court affirm the judgment of the district court